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INTRODUCTION / ISSUES BEFORE THE COURT
At issue in this trial is whether the named Defendants denied Plaintiff his constitutional right to adequate medical care where Plaintiff clearly suffers from significant hearing and speech impairment. 
Plaintiff is a hearing and speech impaired inmate, formerly housed at Downstate Correctional Facility and transferred to Auburn Correctional Facility (“ACF”) in or around January of 2001.    

Beginning in June of 2001, Thompson sent letters to the prison superintendent, J. Burge (“Burge”) and nurse administrator, C. Cayne (“Cayne”), to notify them of his hearing and speech disabilities, that the ACF facilities were lacking, and to request a transfer to a different facility.  Thompson sent similar letters to Burge and Cayne on or about August 8, 2001.


On or about August 6, 2001, Thompson filed an Inmate Grievance Complaint (“ICG”), stating his disability and requesting a transfer to a different facility.  On or about August 27, 2001, the ACF Inmate Grievance Resolution Committee (“IGRC”) concluded that

it [was] painfully obvious to every member of this Committee at the hearing that grievant not only has a hearing impairment but speech impediment as well.  He communicated with us via a series of sign language, grunts, gestures and barely understandable 'words.'  It is apparent that he has great difficulty communicating and would be at a disadvantage here.  As such, we believe his action requested [transfer] should be granted to the extent that a Sensorially Disabled Unit would be a better place to house grievant.  Directive 2612, "Inmates With Sensorial Disabilities", indicates that Eastern, Wende or Sullivan are better equipped to deal with grievant's specific needs.  We now ask the Superintendent to consider this matter.


On or about September 10, 2001, K. Wosneski (“Wosneski”), of the NYS Office of Mental Health (“OMH”), examined Thompson.  Wosneski stated:

Upon interview, it was immediately evident that this individual was hearing impaired to a significant extent, and he was speech impaired, such that much of his verbalizations were not understandable.  He communicated with a mixture of signing, gestures, sounds and some words.

On or about September 17, 2001, Burge denied Thompson’s grievance, stating:

[p]er Medical Department if inmate wears and maintains hearing aid, communication needs can be met at all facilities.  There is no documentation in inmate’s medical records to substantiate the needs for a transfer to a Sensorially Deprived Unit.

On or about, October 11, 2001, Thompson’s counselor, M. Ginnerty (“Ginnerty”) advised Thompson that it was her opinion that Thompson did not need to be transferred to another facility to accommodate his medical needs.

Shortly thereafter, Thompson appealed Burge’s denial of the grievance to the Inmate Grievance Program Central Office Review Committee (“CORC”).  On or about October 31, 001, CORC denied Thompson’s appeal, stating that:

CORC notes that the grievant has a mild hearing loss in his left ear which does not require amplification and does not meet the criteria for placement in a facility designated for the sensorially disabled.  In addition, CORC notes that there is no documentation in the grievant’s records that he has a speech impediment, contrary to his claims.  CORC notes that the grievant is presently housed in a facility which is able to meet his programming needs.  


On or about November 16, 2001, Cayne sent Thompson a memo advising him that:

The audiologist wrote on the consult that “with proper amplification (hearing aid) – functional hearing communication per daily listening needs at all facilities.”  You don’t qualify for a special program.  There are men here that have two hearing aids and are in programs.


On or about December 3, 2001, Thompson was screened again by Wosneski of the OMH, who determined that Thompson did not have a mental health problem, but that “there is apparent disability related to his hearing-loss and speech impediment.”  Moreover “his articulation is slurred and unclear, making his expressed words difficult to understand.  Easy interaction is strained to say the least, but not impossible.”


Most troubling, however, is the fact that Plaintiff did not have hearing aids from at least September of 2005 through March of 2007. Defendant Burge, in his September 17, 2001 unilateral denial of Plaintiff’s grievance, stated that as per the medical department, Plaintiff would be able to function if provided with a hearing aid. Despite this acknowledgement, Plaintiff went without hearing aids for over two years. Plaintiff clearly states facts sufficient to demonstrate a violation of his civil rights. 

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Plaintiff commenced this action pro se by filing a complaint on or about March 10, 2002.  The Complaint was subsequently amended; the most recent Amended Complaint was filed on June 17, 2002 (hereinafter referred to as “the Complaint”).  In the Complaint, Plaintiff alleged that the aforementioned conduct constituted violations of his civil rights under the Americans with Disabilities Act as well as the Eight Amendment to the United States Constitution.
On September 15, 2006, this Court issued an Order appointing H.J. Hubert, Esq. of Bond, Schoeneck & King PLLC, as trial counsel for Plaintiff.  By way of the same order, the Court instructed that the discovery deadline in this matter had passed, and that Plaintiff’s counsel was to prosecute the action based upon the discovery produced to date.  
The parties now proceed to a trial of this matter concerning Plaintiff’s claims regarding the denial of his constitutional rights. 
LEGAL ISSUES

I.
DEFENDANTS HAVE VIOLATED PLAINTIFF’S CIVIL RIGHTS BY FAILING TO PROVIDE ADEQUATE MEDICAL CARE.

Each of the Defendants engaged in conduct that constitutes a blatant violation of Plaintiff Kenneth Thompson’s civil rights.  Section 1983 of Title 42 of the United States Code provides redress to those who have suffered violations of constitutionally protected rights:

Every person who, under color of any statute, ordinance, regulation, custom or usage of any State or Territory or the District of Columbia, subjects or causes to be subjected, any citizen of the United States or other person within the jurisdiction thereof to the deprivation of any rights, privileges or immunities secured by the Constitution and laws, shall be liable to the party injured in an action at law, suit in equity, or other proper proceeding for redress.

A claim under § 1983 is established by demonstrating, by a preponderance of the evidence, that (a) the conduct complained of was committed by a person acting under color of state law, (b) that the conduct deprived the plaintiff of rights, privileges, or immunities secured by the Constitution or laws of the United States, and (c) that the defendant’s acts were the proximate cause of the injuries and consequent damages sustained by the plaintiff.  See Matthew Bender, Modern Jury Instructions § 87-68.

Among the multitude of claims that fall within the scope of Section 1983 are Eighth Amendment Claims based on Defendant failure to provide adequate medical care as well as claims based on the Americans with Disabilities Act and the Rehabilitation Act of  1973.  In order to establish a violation of the Eighth Amendment due to inadequate medical care, a prisoner must prove “deliberate indifference” to a “serious medical need”. Estelle v. Gamble, 429 U.S. 97, 104 (1994). The deliberate indifference standard contains both an objective and a subjective prong. First, the alleged depravation must be, in objective terms, “sufficiently serious”. Wilson v. Seiter, 501 U.S. 294, 298 (1991); Cuoco v. Mortisugu, 222 F.3d 99, 106 (2d Cir. 2000). Factors that are relevant in determining whether a serious medical condition exists include “the existence of an injury that a reasonable doctor or patient would find important and worth of comment or treatment; the presence of a medical condition that significantly affects an individual’s daily activities; or the existence of chronic and substantial pain.” Chance v. Armstrong, 143 F.3d 698, 702 (quoting McGuckin v. Smith, 974 F.2d 1050, 1059-60 (9th Cir. 1992). “A serious medical need exists when the failure to treat a prisoner’s condition could result in further significant injury or the unnecessary and wanton infliction of pain.” Smith v. Carpenter, 316 F.3d 178, 187 (2d Cir. 2003). 
Second, the charged official must act with a sufficiently culpable state of mind. Wilson, 501 U.S. at 298-299. Deliberate indifference requires more than negligence, but less than conduct undertaken for the very purpose of causing harm. Farmer v. Brennan, 511 U.S. 825, 835 (1994). The necessary state of mind has been likened to one of criminal recklessness. Hemmings v. Gorczyk, 134 F.3d 104, 108 (2d Cir. 1998). A prison official acts in a deliberately indifferent manner where he or she “knows of and disregards an excessive risk to inmate health or safety; the official must both be aware of facts from which the inference could be drawn that a substantial risk of serious harm exists, and he must also draw the inference.” Farmer, 511 U.S. at 837. Simple negligence, or an inadvertent failure to provide adequate medical care is insufficient to establish deliberate indifference. See, e.g., Davidson v. Cannon, 474 U.S. 344, 347-48 (1986). 
A.
Plaintiff suffers from a sufficiently serious medical condition 

“The ability to hear is a basic human need affecting daily activity and sufficiently serious to warrant treatment by physicians.” Degrafinreid v. Ricks, 417 F. Supp. 2d 403 (S.D.N.Y. 2006). In Degrafinreid, the court held that a loss of hearing constituted a sufficiently serious medical condition to satisfy the objective prong of the deliberate indifference test. Id. The court reasoned that because it was undisputed that the Plaintiff had received medical treatment while in custody for his loss of hearing; and that he was supplied with hearing aids and batteries, it was clear that his condition was serious. Id. The court also held that a prisoner’s ability to hear was critical, “not only in terms of enjoyment and good health but also, and perhaps most importantly, in terms of safety and security – particularly so in the controlled environment of a prison.” Id. 
Similarly, here, Plaintiff has been treated for hearing loss. Defendant Burge acknowledges this treatment in his denial of Plaintiff’s grievance, where he states, “Per Medical Department if inmate wears and maintains hearing aid, communication needs can be met at all facilities.” In addition, as recently as March 6, 2007, Plaintiff was given an auditory brainstem response test and fitted for new hearing aids. Applying the reasoning of the court in Degranfinried, it is clear that Plaintiff suffers from a serious medical condition. 
B.
Deliberate Indifference by Defendants Burge and Cayne
Defendants Burge, Goord, and Cayne each individually violated Plaintiff's Eighth Amendment rights by acting with deliberate indifference in failing to provide Plaintiff with adequate medical care.  

As discussed above, a prison official acts in a deliberately indifferent manner where he or she “knows of and disregards an excessive risk to inmate health or safety; the official must both be aware of facts from which the inference could be drawn that a substantial risk of serious harm exists, and he must also draw the inference.” Farmer v. Brennan, 511 U.S. 825, 837 (1994). Each of the Defendants clearly violated this standard. 
Defendant Burge has the ultimate authority to review inmate grievances filed with the Department of Corrections. With respect to Plaintiff’s grievance, he received a report from the Inmate Grievance Resolution Committee (“IGRC”), which stated 
it [was] painfully obvious to every member of this Committee at the hearing that grievant not only has a hearing impairment but speech impediment as well.  He communicated with us via a series of sign language, grunts, gestures and barely understandable 'words.'  It is apparent that he has great difficulty communicating and would be at a disadvantage here.  As such, we believe his action requested [transfer] should be granted to the extent that a Sensorially Disabled Unit would be a better place to house grievant.  Directive 2612, "Inmates With Sensorial Disabilities", indicates that Eastern, Wende or Sullivan are better equipped to deal with grievant's specific needs.  We now ask the Superintendent to consider this matter.


Despite the strength of the IGRC’s recommendations, on September 17, 2001, Defendant Burge unilaterally denied Plaintiff’s grievance, stating that as long as he wears a hearing aid, communication needs could be met at all facilities. 


Similarly, in response to Plaintiff’s grievance, on or about November 16, 2001, Cayne sent Thompson a memo advising him that:

The audiologist wrote on the consult that “with proper amplification (hearing aid) – functional hearing communication per daily listening needs at all facilities.”  You don’t qualify for a special program.  There are men here that have two hearing aids and are in programs.


Both Burge and Cayne had direct knowledge of Plaintiff’s disability, yet they failed to take any action to remedy the situation and thereby acted with deliberate indifference to his condition.
C.
Supervisory Liability applies to Defendants Burge and Cayne 

Even if this Court find that Defendants Burge and Cayne were not directly involved in failing to provide adequate medical care for Plaintiff, they nevertheless bear liability for the events as supervisors.

It is conceded that a supervisor cannot be held liable for damages under Section 1983 solely by virtue of being a supervisor.  See generally Gill v. Hoadley, 261 F. Supp. 2d 113, 122–23 (N.D.N.Y. 2003).  However, a supervisory official can be held liable where, after learning of the violation through a report or appeal, he failed to remedy the wrong, where the supervisor was grossly negligent in managing the subordinate, where the supervisor created or allowed to continue a policy or custom under which unconstitutional practices occurred, or by manifesting deliberate indifference towards inmates' rights by "failing to act on information indicating that unconstitutional acts were occurring."  Colon v. Couglin, 58 F.3d 865, 873 (2d Cir. 1999); see also id. at 127 (denying defendant prison officials' motion to dismiss for lack of personal involvement because they were the hearing officers who adjudicated the misbehavior complaint against plaintiff-prisoner).  In applying this standard, the Second Circuit has held that the mere preparation and submission of a misbehavior report is insufficient to "implicate the guard who filed it in [the] constitutional violations which occur at a subsequent disciplinary hearing."  Williams v. Smith, 781 F.2d 319, 324 (2d Cir. 1986).  Similarly, a prison supervisor is not "personally involved" if his or her only act of involvement is affirming the denial of a plaintiff's grievance.  Foreman v. Goord, 02 Civ. 7089, 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 16759, *21 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 23, 2004); Joyner v. Greiner, No. 01 Civ. 7399, 2002 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 6994, **14–15 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 28, 2002).  However, a prison official who denies (or affirms denial) of a grievance has sufficient personal involvement to render that official liable under Section 1983. See Atkinson v. Selsky, No. 03 Civ. 7759, 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 20560, **3–4 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 15, 2004) (“a prison official who denies or affirms denial of a grievance is personally involved in an unconstitutional act complained of, which is all that is required.”).  

Defendants Burge and Cayne had direct knowledge of Plaintiff’s disability and his grievance. In addition, Defendant Burge ultimately denied Plaintiff’s grievance. 

D.
Plaintiff is Entitled to Recover Under Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act and Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act “guarantees that individuals who are qualified to participate in a program or activity will have meaningful access to the program or activity if offered by a grantee of federal funds.” Clarkson v. Coughlin, 898 F. Supp. 1019, 1035 (S.D.N.Y. 1995) (citing Alexander v. Choate, 469 U.S. 287 (1985)). As a general matter, the Rehabilitation Act has been held to apply to prisoner claims. Id. at 1035. Similarly, Title II of the ADA prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability. Specifically, Title II provides: 

no qualified individual with a disability shall, by reason of such disability, be excluded from participation in or be denied the benefits of the services, programs, or activities of a public entity, or be subjected to discrimination by any such entity. 42 U.S.C. § 12132

The elements for establishing a claim under Title II of the ADA and the Rehabilitation Act are virtually identical. In order to establish a claim under Section 504, a plaintiff must establish that: (1) they are a “handicapped person” under the Act; (2) the are “otherwise qualified” to participate in the offered activity or program or to enjoy the services or benefits offered; (3) they are being excluded from participation or enjoyment solely by reason of their disability; and (4) the entity denying plaintiffs participation or enjoyment receives federal funding. Rothschild v. Grottenthaler, 907 F.2d 286, 289-90 (2d Cir. 1990). Similarly, to establish a claim under Title II, a plaintiff must show that: (1) he or she is a “qualified individual with a disability”; (2) he or she is being excluded from participation in, or being denied the benefits of some service, program, or activity by reason of his or her disability; and (3) the entity which provides the service, program or activity is a public entity. Clarkson, 898 F. Supp. at 1037. 

In the present case, it is clear that Plaintiff is handicapped and that the Department of Corrections receives federal funding. In addition, Plaintiff is a qualified individual with a disability. “The meaning of qualified individual with a disability for purposes of Title II, derived via reference to the corresponding regulation promulgated under the Rehabilitation act, is a person with a disability who, with or without a reasonable accommodation meets the essential eligibility requirements for the receipt of the benefits or services in question.” Clarkson, 898 F. Supp. at 1037. Here, Plaintiff is clearly eligible to receive the accommodations requested in his grievance. Finally, by not being provided the accommodations requested, Plaintiff is denied the opportunity to participate in all programs at the prison and is therefore entitled to recover under Title II of the ADA and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act. 
CONCLUSION


For the foregoing reasons, and for the reasons alleged in the Complaint and supporting documents, Plaintiff Troy Garrett is entitled to judgment against each and every Defendant, and is entitled to the full measure of the relief sought in the Complaint.

Dated:  January 3, 2008
BOND, SCHOENECK & KING, PLLC

By:     s/Adam P. Mastroleo




Adam P. Mastroleo, Esq.

Bar Roll Number 514408
Attorneys for Plaintiff

Office and P.O. Address

One Lincoln Center

Syracuse, New York  13202-1355

Telephone:  (315) 218-8000
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